RECEIVED

Aug 18 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenwood County

Honorable Frank R. Addy, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

XZARIERA OKEVIS GRAY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-000993

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SARAH E. SHIPE
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the lower court err in denying Mr. Gray's motion for immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act without further hearing?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 4, 2018, a Greenwood County grand jury indicted Xzariera Gray for murder (2018-GS-24-829) and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (2018-GS-24-830). R. 192-193; 195-196.

Prior to trial, Mr. Gray filed a motion to dismiss pursuant to the Protection for Persons and Property Act. Motion. The state, represented by Joshua Thomas and Carson Penney, called the case to trial before the Honorable Frank R. Addy and a jury on May 6-9, 2019. R. 1. Janna Nelson and Shane Goranson represented Mr. Gray. R. 1. After the jury was selected, the judge presided over a hearing on Mr. Gray's motion to dismiss. R. 4-80. After hearing the evidence, the judge denied Gray's request. R. 77, l. 23—80, l. 8.

The jury found Mr. Gray guilty as charged. R. 146, l. 19--147, l. 2. Due to the late hour, Judge Addy deferred sentencing until May 14, 2019. R. 148, l. 7-11; 149, l. 11—150, l. 5. On that date, Judge Addy sentenced Mr. Gray to thirty years imprisonment for murder and five years' imprisonment for the weapon. R. 158, ll. 14-25; R. 194; R. 197. He ordered the sentences be served consecutively. R. 158 ll. 14-25; R. 194; R. 197.

On May 23, 2019, Mr. Gray filed a motion for new trial. R. 159-162. In the motion, he requested a new trial based upon the jury deliberating for over ten hours during which they received only one meal and the judge's failure to clarify that the jury need not reach a verdict, and more importantly, that the jury need not reach a verdict that night. R. 159-162. Mr. Gray requested a hearing on the motion and individual voir dire of the jurors on the matter. R. 159-162. On June 21, 2019, Judge Addy issued an order denying the motion and refusing to hold a hearing on the motion for a new trial. R. 163-164.

On July 2, 2019, Mr. Gray served his notice of appeal. After briefing and oral argument,

this Court remanded his case to the circuit court to make specific findings regarding the Protection of Persons and Property Act.¹ *State v. Gray*, Op. No. 5951 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Nov. 23, 2022) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 41 at 34); R. 166-177. This Court also affirmed (1) the trial court's admission of a surveillance video and (2) the denial of Mr. Gray's motion for a new trial without a hearing. *Id.* Pursuant to Rule 221(a), SCACR, Mr. Gray filed a petition for rehearing. Supp. R. 1-9. The state filed a return on December 19, 2022. Supp. R. 10-18. Subsequently, on January 23, 2023, this Court denied the petition for rehearing. Supp. R. 19-20.

On March 6, 2023, Mr. Gray filed a petition for a writ of certiorari with the South Carolina Supreme Court requesting it review this Court's affirmance of (1) the trial court's admission of a surveillance video and (2) the denial of Gray's motion for a new trial without a hearing. Supp. R. 21-46. On April 20, 2023, the state filed its return. Supp. R. 47-67. On October 3, 2023, the Court denied the petition for a writ of certiorari. Supp. R. 68.

On May 24, 2024, Judge Addy, by written, order denied Mr. Gray's motion for immunity without a hearing. On June 3, 2024, counsel for Mr. Gray made a motion to reconsider requesting the judge reconsider the ruling and grant Mr. Gray a new immunity hearing. R. 184. Judge Addy denied the motion on June 4, 2024. R. 191.

This appeal follows.

¹See S.C. Code Ann. §§ 16-11-410 to -450 (2015).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“A claim of immunity under the Act requires a pretrial determination using a preponderance of the evidence standard, which [the appellate court] reviews under an abuse of discretion standard of review.” *State v. Curry*, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013).

“An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” *State v. Jones*, 416 S.C. 283, 289, 786 S.E.2d 132, 136 (2016).

ARGUMENT

Mr. Gray is entitled to immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act based on the evidence presented.

Immunity hearing

In August 2017, Mr. Gray and the brother of Demetrious “Meatball” Fuller got into an altercation. R. 16, ll. 10-13. The brother was armed and chased Mr. Gray. R. 16, ll. 10-16; 21, ll. 21-25. After the chase ended, Meatball arrived with a gun. R. 16, ll. 17-19; 22, ll. 1-3. Although Meatball refused to put his gun down, he did not harm Gray that day. R. 16, ll. 17-22. After these two heated confrontations, Gray heard from others in the neighborhood that Meatball was armed and threatening to kill him. R. 16, l. 23—17, l. 3; 22, ll. 13-16.

Weeks later, on Friday, August 25, 2017, Mr. Gray was visiting with his friend, Ricky Grant, in Grant’s home on Gray Street, in Greenwood. R. 6, l. 3—7, l. 8; 58, ll. 5-7. Around midnight, Gray and Grant decided to go to a neighborhood nightclub. R. 7, ll. 9-13; 57, l. 19—58, l. 4. While leaving, Meatball approached Grant’s car and knocked on the window. R. 7, 19-22. Meatball learned they were going to a nightclub and asked to ride with them. R. 8, ll. 1-6; 67, l. 25—68, l. 1.

Aware of the prior altercations between Mr. Gray and Meatball, Grant asked if Gray would be agreeable to Meatball riding with them. R. 8, ll. 1-6; R. 9, ll. 7-14. Mr. Gray agreed. R. 8, ll. 5-6. The three rode to the nightclub together. R. 8, ll. 7-8; R. 57, ll. 22-23. When they arrived, only Grant and Meatball entered the nightclub. R. 8, ll. 7-12. Gray stayed in the parking lot where he talked to people he knew. R. 8, ll. 13-16. According to Grant, Meatball placed his

gun in some bushes outside the nightclub before entering. R. 59, ll. 11-15; R. 64, ll. 14-20.²

Between 3:30 and 4:00 a.m., Grant exited the club and indicated he was ready to return home. R. 8, ll. 17-23. Gray got into the car with him. R. 8, ll. 17-23; 58, ll. 12-14. Meatball did not leave with them. R. 9, l. 25—10, l. 2; 58, ll. 15-16; 68, ll. 10-12.

Grant and Gray continued to socialize at Grant's home. R. 10, ll. 4-10; 58, l. 22—59, l. 1. Suddenly, Meatball appeared in the doorway. R. 10, ll. 10-13; 59, ll. 5-7. Meatball was angry with Gray over the physical altercation between Gray and Meatball's brother that occurred two weeks earlier. R. 10, ll. 14-16. As Gray and Meatball began a heated verbal exchange, Grant told them to take their disagreement outside. R. 10, ll. 16-18; 13, ll. 1-8; 60, l. 6—61, l. 8. Gray and Meatball walked outside. R. 10, ll. 18-24; 13, ll. 11-12. Gray re-entered Grant's house, but Meatball followed him and continued to berate him. R. 10, ll. 19-24; 13, ll. 19-21. Grant again instructed the two men to go outside. R. 10, l. 25; 13, ll. 22-23; 64, ll. 5-6; 69, ll. 10-11.

As they walked onto the front porch, Meatball swung his fist at Gray. R. 11, ll. 4-6; 14, ll. 3-6. The two began to tussle. R. 11, ll. 5-6; 14, ll. 7-8; 26, ll. 21-24. Gray saw Meatball reach for a gun in his waistband. R. 11, l. 7; 14, ll. 12-13; 26, ll. 14-17. In fear, Gray grabbed for the gun. R. 11, l. 8; 14, ll. 15-16; 27, ll. 1-5. The two struggled over the gun. R. 11, l. 9. Gray got control of the gun, and as he stumbled back from Meatball, the gun fired. R. 11, ll. 10-12; 14, l. 17; 18, ll. 3-11; 27, ll. 11-13. When Gray stumbled backward, the two men were about twenty feet apart. R. 28, ll. 4-10. However, Meatball was charging him at the time he fired the single shot. R. 18, ll. 12-15; 19, ll. 8-10; 28, ll. 11-14; 31, ll. 8-9. After being shot, Meatball ran away. R. 19, ll. 11-12.

² Ricky Grant did not tell the police he saw Meatball hide the gun in the bushes at the club. R. 70, l. 17 – R. 71, l. 13.

Aware that Meatball's family lived in the area, Gray, in shock, ran to Grant's door, but Grant would not let him in. R. 61, l. 14—62, l. 3. Gray then went to the house next door. R. 62, ll. 1-3.

Gray maintained that he feared death during the encounter with Meatball. R. 17, ll. 16-24. Gray was scared Meatball would shoot him and fulfill his promise to kill him. R. 17, ll. 20-24. Gray was "really scared." R. 19, ll. 15-19; 28, ll. 16-18.

Jeovani Vacquec lived near Grant. R. 32, ll. 3-6. He had multiple cameras around his house. R. 32, ll. 13-20. All of the cameras feedback to one central monitor. R. 32, ll. 21-23. Vacquec was certain the cameras were working on August 26, 2017, because he checked the cameras every two days. R. 33, ll. 8-15. Vacquec personally installed and maintained the cameras. R. 38, ll. 7-11. He noted the cameras recorded "on the recording machine" and were saved for "probably like two, three months" and then "erase[d] everything." R. 38, ll. 12-25. When police arrived at his house on August 26, 2017, he watched video footage with the officer. R. 33, ll. 16-24. The video footage recorded from Vacquec's equipment was admitted into evidence during the hearing over defense counsel's objection. R. 33, l. 25 – R. 37, l. 23; State's Exhibit 2.³

Raymond Kennedy claimed he was hanging out at Rick Grant's house on the night of August 25, 2017. R. 40, ll. 13-25. He saw Grant, Meatball, and Gray leave to go to the club. R. 41, ll. 8-14. However, Grant, Gray, and Gray's brother returned together. Meatball was not with them. R. 41, ll. 15-22. Later, Meatball arrived at Grant's home. R. 41, l. 23—42, l. 2. Meatball was angry and he claimed his gun was missing. R. 42, ll. 5-17; 59, ll. 8-10. When Meatball repeatedly accused Gray of having his gun, Gray denied the false accusations. R. 42, ll. 13-21.

³ Mr. Gray challenged the admissibility of the video during the pre-trial hearing, the trial, and on direct appeal.

Kennedy claimed Meatball left, but returned approximately thirty minutes later and resumed his interrogation of Gray regarding his missing gun. R. 43, ll. 10-13. Based upon the altercation, Grant told Meatball and Gray to go outside. R.43, ll. 14-16.

According to Kennedy, Gray stood in the yard while Meatball continued his barrage of accusations. R. 43, ll. 14-17. Despite Gray's continued denials, the two men "got to scuffling and then gunshot went off." R. 43, ll. 17-19. Kennedy admitted the two were "tussling on the steps at first," and then the scuffle moved to the yard. R. 43, l. 23—44, l. 5.

Kennedy did not see who fired the gunshot, but he did hear it. R. 44, ll. 9-10. He observed that after the gunshot, Meatball "got up" and said, "That MF shot me for real." R. 44, ll. 10-12. Meatball then "ran down the street." R. 46, ll. 6-8.

Defense counsel argued Mr. Gray was entitled to immunity because he was in a place where he had a right to be as an invited guest at the home of Ricky Grant. R. 72, l. 25—73, l. 5. Additionally, Gray satisfied the requirements of self-defense because he feared losing his life at the hands of Meatball, who was armed. R. 73, ll. 6-13. The state conceded Gray was in a place where he had a right to be, but argued it was "a jury question as to the elements of self-defense." R. 73, ll. 15-19. Specifically, the state argued:

There's some testimony from the witnesses that the defendant was armed with a handgun, got in sort of a tussle and he retrieved it, but that the victim came in, had no handgun on him, was asking about the gun and then the victim pulled a gun out after a tussle and shot him. I guess my position is that, in my mind, is a jury question.

R. 73, ll. 20-25.

When ruling on the motion, the judge explained the question before him was whether Gray had "demonstrated by the preponderance of the evidence" that he was entitled to immunity. R. 78, ll. 2-4. However, the judge failed to apply this burden of proof when reviewing the

evidence. The judge found Gray and Meatball were “invited guests.” Therefore, Gray had a right to be there as required by the Act. R. 78, ll. 6-7. After noting the witnesses gave “different version[s] of events,” the judge explained the descriptions were nuanced. R. 78, ll. 11-14.

Thereafter, the judge explained his reasoning for denying immunity:

If it [were] a clear open and shut case where all witnesses testified as to what [Gray]’s version of the events were, it might be a different matter entirely. The Court might be inclined to grant the defendant’s motion.

But based upon the varying evidence and the open question of whether the [Gray]’s entitled to a self-defense instruction, the Court’s - - and passing upon the credibility of the witnesses who have testified, the Court finds that [Gray] has not met his burden of proving by the preponderance of the evidence that he is entitled to protection under the Act.

R. 78, ll. 15-25.

When defense counsel noted it was the judge’s responsibility to weigh the evidence and resolve conflicts in the testimony in order to make a determination as to immunity, the judge was unrelenting in his view. R. 79, ll. 21. He emphasized that if he “had a hundred percent or very firm belief in the version of events put forward by [Gray] and argued by [defense counsel], then perhaps, ... it would be a different outcome, obviously.” R. 79, ll. 17-21. He noted that “to the extent that [Gray]’s testimony would have been corroborated by others who were present at the scene, the court might be more inclined to say that the defense has met the burden of proving it by a preponderance of the evidence.” R. 79, l. 22—80, l. 2. “In light of the conflicting evidence, though, and the open question of whether this is, in fact, a case of self-defense,” the judge denied the motion. He thought “such matters [were] best left, in this case, since there is so much conflicting evidence, these matters [were] best left to the finders of fact, namely the trial jury.”

R. 80, ll. 3-8.

Order denying immunity

Judge Addy's May 2024, order denying immunity states "the court's recollection of this case and the testimony is crystal clear; accordingly, further hearing is unnecessary, and the court issues this order based upon the record, the court's notes, and the court's recollection." Order p.

1. In the order the judge found Mr. Gray did not prove he was entitled to immunity under the Act by the preponderance of the evidence. The judge found the testimonies of Mr. Grant and Mr. Kennedy were "more reliable and credible" than Mr. Gray's testimony where Grant and Kennedy were neutral witnesses with no stake in the outcome of trial and where Mr. Gray's version "[made] little sense." The judge found "most importantly" "all of this was clearly over a gun" and concluded "the most likely scenario was that Mr. Gray "appropriated the decedent's gun" and Mr. Gray was not entitled to immunity because he was at fault in bringing on the difficulty. Order p. 4.

In a footnote the judge suggests this Court "modify[] the procedural rule as promulgated in *Andrews*⁴ and *McCarty*⁵" reasoning that appealing the denial of immunity after a guilty verdict is pointless because it requires the "appellate court to reject the jury's finding of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." The order goes on to state "if a jury rejects a claim of self-defense and finds a defendant guilty, any insufficiently factually articulated denial of the defendant's [claim of immunity] by the court is of no import because the jury has found against the defendant beyond a reasonable doubt." The judge reasons that here, Gray "gave essentially the same testimony to the jury in his case in chief as he gave to the court at his immunity hearing . . . the jury rejected [Gray's] version of events." The order states this remand constitutes "little more than busy work" where the jury has reached a verdict of guilt. Order p. 5-6, fn i.

⁴ *State v. Andrews*, 427 S.C. 178, 830 S.E.2d 12 (2019).

⁵ *State v. McCarty*, 437 S.C. 355, 878 S.E.2d 902 (2022).

Discussion

In 2006, the South Carolina General Assembly adopted the Protection of Persons and Property Act. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-410, et seq. The General Assembly explained its intent was to “codify the common law Castle Doctrine which recognizes that a person’s home is his castle and to extend the doctrine to include an occupied vehicle and the person’s place of business.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(A). “The General Assembly [found] that it is proper for law-abiding citizens to protect themselves, their families, and others from intruders and attackers without fear of prosecution or civil action for acting in defense of themselves and others.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(B). The General Assembly recognized “that persons residing in or visiting this State have a right to expect to remain unmolested and safe within their homes, businesses, and vehicles.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(D). Finally, the General Assembly explained “that no person or victim of crime should be required to surrender his personal safety to a criminal, nor should a person or victim be required to needlessly retreat in the face of intrusion or attack.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(E).

To effectuate its intent, the General Assembly created a statute providing for immunity from prosecution to “[a] person who uses deadly force as permitted by the provisions of this article or another applicable provision of law.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450(A).

A person who is not engaged in an unlawful activity and who is attacked in another place where he has a right to be, including, but not limited to, his place of business, has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or another person or to prevent the commission of a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-60.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C).

More recently, the Supreme Court explained that it had interpreted “another applicable provision of law” found within section 16-11-450(A) to include the common law of self-defense. *State v. Glenn*, 429 S.C.108, 117, 838 S.E.2d 491, 496 (2019) (citing *State v. Scott*, 424 S.C. 463, 473, 819 S.E.2d 116, 120 (2018)). “This means a defendant may seek immunity from prosecution under the Act by ‘demonstrating the elements of self-defense to the satisfaction of the trial court by a preponderance of the evidence.’” *Id.* (quoting *Curry*, 406 S.C. at 372, 752 S.E.2d at 267). During the pretrial hearing, a defendant must set out “a valid case of self-defense,” excluding the duty to retreat prong, “and the trial court must necessarily consider the elements of self-defense in determining a defendant’s entitlement to the Act’s immunity.” *State v. Curry*, 406 S.C. 364, 371, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013).

The Court explained that “a trial court should first consider whether the defendant has proved the elements of self-defense by a preponderance of the evidence.” *Glenn*, at 118, 838 at 496. “If the defendant has failed to meet the elements of reasonable fear or the duty to retreat, the court should then determine whether section 16-11-440(A) or (C) is applicable.” *Id.* Where section 16-11-440(C) is applicable, “it replaces the duty to retreat element required to establish self-defense.” *Id.* “In determining whether a defendant satisfies section 16-11-440(C), the circuit court must analyze whether, at the time of the incident, he was engaged in an unlawful activity and was attacked in another place where he had a right to be.” *Id.*

Furthermore, when considering whether the defendant was in a place where he had a right to be as required by the Act, the trial court must consider proximate cause or a causal connection to the incident. *Id.* “[T]o bar a victim of crime from claiming immunity based on a hyper-technical reading of the statute would lead to absurd results when his presence in the place he was attacked had no relation to the incident itself.” *Id.* Additionally, “a proximate cause

analysis must also be applied to the unlawful activity element of subsection (C).” *Id.*

“A claim of immunity under the Act requires a pretrial determination using a preponderance of the evidence standard.” *State v. Curry*, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013). The judge must “sit as fact-finder at this hearing, weigh the evidence presented, and reach a conclusion under the Act.” *State v. Cervantes-Pavon*, 426 S.C. 442, 451, 827 S.E.2d 564, 569 (2019).

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