RECEIVED

Aug 18 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

Appeal from Greenwood County

The Honorable Frank R. Addy, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

XZARIERA OKEVIS GRAY,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2024-000993

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 14244

South Carolina Office of the Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6307

DAVID M. STUMBO, Solicitor
Eighth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The order denying immunity should be affirmed where the trial judge clearly set out and applied the appropriate legal standards that guided his decision and also set out the controlling findings of facts which are amply supported by the evidence presented in the pre-trial hearing.

The Protection of Persons and Property Act (the Act) provides that an individual who is justified in the use of deadly force can seek immunity from civil and criminal liability at a pre-trial hearing. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450; *State v. Curry*, 406 S.C. 364, 752 S.E.2d 263 (2013). To obtain immunity, the accused must establish by a preponderance of the evidence that he was justified in his use of deadly force. *State v. Duncan*, 392 S.C. 404, 709 S.E.2d 662 (2011). The circuit court “must sit as the fact-finder at this hearing, weigh the evidence presented, and reach a conclusion under the Act.” *State v. Cervantes-Pavon*, 426 S.C. 442, 451, 827 S.E.2d 564, 569 (2019). The trial judge hearing the request for immunity “should at the least make specific findings on the elements” sufficient for appellate review. *State v. McCarty*, 437 S.C. 355, 374, 878 S.E.2d 902, 912 (2022) (“a circuit court, as the designated fact-finder in this matter, must provide adequate findings to support its decision so an appellate court can perform its role of reviewing the ruling under an abuse of discretion standard”); *see also State v. Andrews*, 427 S.C. 178, 182, 830 S.E.2d 12, 14 (2019) (“while the circuit court may not have set forth every detail of its analysis in the record, the record is nevertheless adequate for a reviewing court to determine that the circuit court applied the correct burden of proof and made findings that supported its denial of immunity consistent with a correct application of this Court’s precedent”).

Here, the trial judge was appropriately guided by this legal structure in considering the individual facts before him in finding immunity was not warranted. (R. 178-183 at 1, 4). Moreover, the trial judge carefully set out the facts from the hearing in his order, including his credibility determinations and the reasons for those determinations. (R. 178-183, at 2-4). In the

present appeal, appellant does little more than complain that the trial judge should have believed him rather than the remaining evidence. That is insufficient to show an error either in law or fact that would undermine the trial judge’s ruling. Stated differently, appellant fails to show an abuse of discretion. The order denying immunity should be affirmed.

Prior Appeal and Remand

This Court did not set aside the immunity hearing, and did not order that any additional testimony be taken; rather, this Court remanded specifically: “we remand for the trial court to make specific findings that support its determination of whether Gray is, or is not, entitled to immunity under the Act.” Opinion, p. 9; *see also Gray*, 438 S.C. at 142, 882 S.E.2d at 475.

On May 24, 2024, the trial judge issued an order memorializing the specific reasons for denying immunity. Though the judge had the transcript from the prior trial, and had presided over that trial, he correctly limited review for the immunity question to the immunity hearing. (R. 178-187, at 1) (“reviewed the trial transcript of the Castle Doctrine hearing” and his “notes and those of [his] law clerk”). Further, he asserted his “recollection of this case and the testimony [was] crystal clear” such that additional proceedings were not necessary. (R. 178-183 at 1).³ *See generally McCarty*, 437 S.C. at 375, 878 S.E.2d at 913 (resting decision “whether to issue a new order based on the record of the hearing it has already conducted, or whether to conduct a new immunity hearing before issuing a ruling” in trial judge’s discretion).

In the order, the trial judge reviewed appellant’s testimony, and that of State witnesses Kennedy and Grant, along with the video evidence. (R. 178-183 at 2-4). The trial judge then “reaffirm[ed]” his prior ruling that appellant had failed in his burden of proof. (R. 178-183 at 4).

³ The trial judge also noted that “[n]either the State nor the Public Defender requested a hearing.” (R. 178-183 at 1 n. 1).

Notably, the trial judge particularly did not credit appellant's testimony that the victim "reached for a gun in decedent's waist ...grabb[ed] the gun, stumble[d] back, and fire[d]." (R. 178-183 at 2). The trial judge considered: "If the decedent was armed when he returned to the house as the Defendant maintained, why would he be confronting the Defendant about stealing the very gun with which he was armed?" (R. 178-183 at 4). In contrast, the "reliable and credible" testimony by the "neutral witnesses" such as Grant, convinced the judge "that the decedent left his gun outside the club and [appellant] likely took the gun." (R. 178-183 at 4). The trial judge "concluded that the most likely scenario is that [appellant] appropriated the decedent's gun while waiting outside the club" and was "not entitled to immunity as he is at fault in bringing on the difficulty." (R. 178-183 , at 4). Thus, appellant failed in his burden of proof. (R. 178-183, at 4). The record fully and fairly supports the trial judge's ruling.

Immunity Hearing

Appellant testified that two weeks before the murder, he and the victim's brother got into a fight at Grant's house. (R. 9, 16). He asserted that the victim's brother had a gun and chased appellant around a car after which appellant ran into a nearby home. (R. 16). Twenty minutes later, the victim arrived and took the gun from his brother. (R. 16, 22). After he recounted that interaction, appellant recounted the night of the murder.

Appellant testified that as he and Grant were about to drive to the club, the victim knocked on the car window and asked to come along. (R. 7-8). Grant looked at appellant to see if it was okay, and appellant left it to Grant to decide. (R. 8). The victim went with them and when they got to the club, Grant and the victim went inside, but appellant remained in the parking lot and drank a few beers with some friends. (R. 8). Grant eventually returned to the car and the two left. (R. 8). Appellant could hear the victim walking toward the Gray Street house because the victim

was “talking loud,” and he could also hear him come up the steps. (R. 10). Appellant testified victim stated “I ain’t forget about you hitting my brother in the mouth or something,” and then Grant said to “take that outside.” (R. 10). Appellant testified that he went outside and started to walk home, but he turned around because Grant had promised to give him a ride. (R. 10-11). When appellant went back inside the house the victim followed him. (R. 10). The argument continued, and Grant again asked them to leave because they were being too loud. (R. 10-11).

Appellant testified that when he went back outside a second time, the victim “swung and hit me. When he hit me, we got to tussling.” (R. 11).⁴ Appellant testified that during the scuffle, he saw the victim reach for a gun in his waistband. (R. 11). Appellant let go of the victim, grabbed the gun, and stumbled backwards. (R. 11). As appellant fell back, he could see the victim rushing towards him in a “rage.” (R. 18). Appellant shot the victim as appellant was falling backwards.⁵ (R. 14). On cross-examination, appellant denied that the argument arose over the victim’s missing gun; rather, he maintained that the victim was still upset about the previous altercation. (R. 24). Appellant even asserted that prior to the scuffle, he never saw the victim with a gun that night. (R. 30).

However, Raymond Kennedy and Ricky Grant each testified that the argument arose over the victim’s missing gun. (R. 42, 60). Kennedy explained that “when [the victim] came back he

⁴ Appellant’s pre-trial testimony was not consistent on the fight. On direct exam, he testified that when he went outside, the victim “swung and hit me.” (R. 11). Later during direct, he stated that the victim “*tried to hit me* or whatnot.” (R. 14) (emphasis added). Appellant also indicated, while looking at a photograph, that “he *hit me* right here. And we started tussling right here.” (R. 25) (emphasis added).

⁵ Appellant was inconsistent on this point, too. At first, he testified that “I stumbled back and the gun fired, fired the gun.” (R. 11). He later testified that “when I was falling back, I shot.” (R. 18). When asked on cross-exam whether the gun fired on accident, appellant responded, “It was a [sic] accident because I was scared at the time. Like I didn’t mean to do it. Like I’m just being real. It was a [sic] accident to me.” (R. 29).

asked about a gun...he was angry about his gun – about his gun being missing.” (R. 42). According to Kennedy, the victim “kept asking about his gun,” and appellant “kept telling him he didn’t have the gun.” (R. 43, 53). Ultimately, “they got to scuffling and the gunshot went off.” (R. 43).

Grant corroborated that account. He testified that before entering the club, the victim hid his gun in some bushes across the street. (R. 89). When the victim returned to Grant’s house, Grant understood from the victim’s “interactions” that appellant had his gun and the victim wanted it back. (R. 60). While the two were arguing, Grant even told appellant, “if you got his gun, give it to him.” (R. 69). When they both became “loud,” Grant testified that he “put everybody outside of the house.” (R. 61). Grant later heard gunfire when the two went outside. (R. 61).

In addition to offering Kennedy and Grant’s testimony, the State also introduced the neighbor’s surveillance footage, and argued that appellant’s version of events did not match the surveillance footage, noting that the video appeared to show the two were “a good five or six feet apart” when appellant fired. (R. 109).

- A. The trial judge appropriately recognized and applied the correct preponderance of the evidence burden in making his findings of facts.

The trial judge correctly articulated the burden of proof at the immunity hearing, (R. 39, **80**), and on remand again embraced that correct standard, (R. 178-183, at 1, 4). While appellant argues (again) that an incorrect, higher burden of proof was applied, (BOA at 13), the order leaves no doubt that the argument must be rejected. Further, the trial judge did not “require” full corroboration as appellant contends, (*see* BOA at 16), rather, the judge was not *convinced* by a preponderance of the evidence that appellant’s version of the events was true in light of testimony from “neutral witnesses who have no stake in the outcome of the trial.” (R. 178 - 183, at 4). The

credibility ruling in no way enhanced the burden of proof – appellant’s story simply was not credible.

Moreover, the trial judge’s comparing the different versions of the story is precisely what is required. In assessing the merits of an immunity claim, appellate courts have consistently considered whether an accused’s story is corroborated by other evidence. For example, in *State v. Curry*, our Supreme Court affirmed the denial of immunity underscoring that “immunity is predicated on an accused demonstrating the elements of self-defense to the satisfaction of the trial court by the preponderance of the evidence.” 406 S.C. at 372, 752 S.E.2d at 267. The Court rejected the appellant’s suggestion that “the Act should be construed to require a trial court to accept the accused’s version of the underlying facts.” *Curry*, 406 S.C. at 371, 752 S.E.2d at 266. Similarly, this Court upheld a denial of immunity when the record supported the trial judge’s determination that the number of wounds on the victim was inconsistent with the appellant’s explanation of the event. *State v. Chhith-Berry*, 437 S.C. 527, 544, 878 S.E.2d 352, 361 (Ct. App. 2022).

Simply put, the law in this state reflects a commonsense approach to resolving these fact-intensive disputes. As applied here, the circuit court’s ruling aligns with this approach and should be upheld. *See State v. Andrews*, 427 S.C. 178, 182, 830 S.E.2d 12, 14 (2019)(“[T]he circuit court applied the correct burden of proof and made findings that supported its denial of immunity consistent with a correct application of this Court’s precedent.”).

- B. The trial judge appropriately exercised his duty to act as the fact-finder for purposes of determining immunity.

In addition to arguing that the trial judge failed to apply the correct burden of proof, appellant also asserts that trial judge only focused on one fact – that appellant took the victim’s gun – when, according to appellant, he satisfied the elements of self-defense apart from the duty

to retreat, and for that he could rely on the Act. (BOA at 13). Appellant is wrong in two distinct ways.

First, he is wrong because precedent dictates that the elements of self-defense be considered. *State v. Glenn*, 429 S.C. 108, 123, 838 S.E.2d 491, 499 (2019) (“In determining a defendant’s entitlement to immunity under the Act, the circuit court must necessarily consider the elements of self-defense.”). Those elements are: (1) “the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty,” (2) “the defendant must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger,” (3) “if his defense is based upon his belief of imminent danger, a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief” or where “the defendant actually was in imminent danger, the circumstances were such as would warrant a man of ordinary prudence, firmness and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or losing his own life,” and (4) “the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance.” *Id.*, at 116, 838 S.E.2d at 495. “[A] valid claim of self-defense must exist, and the trial court must necessarily consider the elements of self-defense” in considering a claim of immunity. *Id.*, at 118, 838 S.E.2d at 496 (quoting *Curry*, 406 S.C. at 371, 752 S.E.2d at 266). The Act where applicable, supplies a presumption of reasonable fear (unless there is an equal right to be in the place at issue), or excuses the duty to retreat. *Id.*, citing S.C. Code §§ 16-11-440 (A) and (C). Contrary to appellant’s position, an accused is not relieved of showing the very first element, *i.e.*, being without fault in bringing about the event. The Act, at its heart, is about protection. That should logically not shield a bad actor who creates a situation in which force is used.

Second, he is wrong that section 16-11-440 (C) works to avoid the element of being without fault in bringing on the difficulty. “Where the section is applicable, it replaces the duty to retreat element required to establish self-defense.” *Glenn*, 429 S.C. at 119, 838 S.E.2d at 497. The trial judge here did not incorrectly apply precedent or the statutory provisions.

In addition to applying the correct legal standard, the record below reveals the circuit court acted as the fact finder, weighed the evidence presented, and reached a conclusion well-supported by the record. For example, after the presentation of evidence, the trial judge asked the State whether its investigation definitively linked ownership of the weapon to either the victim or appellant. (R. 76). When the solicitor replied there was no forensic evidence linking the weapon to either party, the trial judge followed up by confirming the State’s theory was that the argument “was about a gun.” (R. 76). The court’s questioning provides insight into its rationale for denying immunity. If the argument arose over the victim’s missing gun, as the two other witnesses testified, then appellant cannot credibly claim either a reasonable fear of bodily harm or no fault at bringing upon the difficulty. *See Glenn, supra; see also State v. Marshall*, 428 S.C. 11, 18-19, 832 S.E.2d 618, 622 (Ct. App. 2019) (citing the elements of self-defense that the accused must show at the pre-trial immunity hearing).

Notably, appellant relied exclusively on self-serving testimony and asserted that the victim started the altercation because of the prior difficulty with appellant’s brother, not over a gun. (R. 24). However, Raymond Kennedy and Ricky Grant each testified that the dispute arose because the victim could not find his gun and assumed appellant had taken it. (R. 43, 53, 60 and 108). This detail went to the heart of the matter: if the victim cannot find his gun at the start of the fight, he most likely does not have it tucked in his waistband during the ensuing scuffle.

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